© Adis International Limited. All rights reserved.

Benefits and Risks to Mother and Infant of Drug Treatment for Postnatal Depression

Shaila Misri^{1,2,3} and Xanthoula Kostaras²

- 1 Psychiatry and Obstetrics/Gynaecology, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada
- 2 Reproductive Mental Health Program, St Paul's Hospital, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada
- 3 British Columbia Women's Hospital, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada

Contents

Abstract
1. Antidepressants During Breastfeeding
1.1 Selective Serotonin Reuptake Inhibitors
1.1.1 Fluoxetine
1.1.2 Sertraline
1.1.3 Paroxetine
1.1.4 Fluvoxamine
1.1.5 Citalopram
1.2 Tricyclic Antidepressants
1.3 Other Antidepressants During Breastfeeding
2. Adjunctive Therapies During Breastfeeding
3. Treatment Guidelines for Postnatal Depression
4. Conclusions

Abstract

The postnatal period presents a special problem to healthcare providers treating psychiatric disorders in women. Many new mothers who need antidepressant treatment may wish to breastfeed their infants, but are hesitant to do so for fear of passing on possible harmful effects of the medication through their milk.

The focus of this article will be on highlighting and interpreting the existing literature on the benefits and risks to mother and infant of drug treatment for postnatal depression, as well as outlining treatment guidelines for the use of antidepressants in breastfeeding mothers. The article will specifically focus on the use of fluoxetine, sertraline, paroxetine, fluvoxamine and citalopram, which are more commonly used and belong to the selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor group of antidepressants. The tricyclic and other newer antidepressant medications will also be discussed. As there are no published controlled studies on the use of antidepressants by breastfeeding women, publications of individual case reports, case series, and pharmacokinetic investigations serve as the basis for the development of treatment guidelines. Results from this growing body of literature are promising in that, with the exception of a few cases, no serious adverse events

have been reported in infants exposed to antidepressant medications through breast milk. In addition nonpharmacological treatments consisting of different types of psychotherapies will be discussed. It is critical that healthcare providers evaluate each mother-infant dyad on an individual basis when faced with the decision to prescribe antidepressant medications during the postnatal period.

The childbearing years are a time of increased vulnerability to the onset of major depression in women. Until recently, however, the association between depression and the perinatal period was not well researched. Recent literature indicates that between 10 to 16% of women fulfil the diagnostic criteria for major depression in pregnancy. [1] In the postnatal period, the prevalence of depression has been more systematically studied, with controlled studies reporting that 12 to 16% of women experience a major depressive episode. [2,3] This figure has been reported to be as high as 26% in adolescent mothers. [4]

It appears that some women may be at a higher risk of developing postnatal depression than others. Risk factors for postnatal depression include: depression in a previous pregnancy or postnatal period – this is associated with a 50 to 62% risk of subsequent illness, [5] a prior history of mood disorders, [6] depressive symptomatology during the pregnancy, [7] and a positive family history of psychiatric disorders. [1,3,6] In addition, a variety of contributing factors have been identified that may increase the risk for development of postnatal depression, including: younger maternal age, poor social support, adverse life events, marital instability, unwanted pregnancy, and the experience of abuse or violence. [1,4,6,8]

Pharmacotherapy in pregnant women is frequently necessary to treat chronic or relapsing depression and/or anxiety. The short-term effects of fetal exposure to antidepressants have been documented in several case reports and case series, while few long-term outcomes have been reported. [9-13] Only one study to date has described long-term effects in infants up to 86 months of age. [111] These infants, who were exposed to fluoxetine and tricyclic antidepressants during pregnancy, were found to have no differences in lan-

guage abilities, IQ scores, or behavioural development when compared with a group of non-exposed infants.

Infant exposure to psychotropic medications is greater during pregnancy through placental passage than during the postnatal period through breast milk. The recommendations of the American Academy of Pediatrics for prescribing psychotropic medications during pregnancy are to prescribe the lowest dosage that will provide adequate control of the woman's illness while minimising the risks of fetal toxicity.[14] To date, there have been no systematic recommendations made to address the issue of infant exposure through breast milk. Longitudinal studies are needed to interpret the effects of small quantities of drug exposure through milk; at present, until these studies are conducted, clinicians must rely on the results of individual case reports and small case series when faced with the decision to prescribe an antidepressant medication to a postnatal breastfeeding woman.

All psychotropic medications are found in breast milk in varying amounts and are passed on to the nursing infant. Thus, when pharmacotherapy is indicated for postnatal women, the potential risks of medication exposure in the infant must be weighed against the risks of untreated maternal depression. The negative effects of untreated maternal depression during the beginning years of a child's life have been documented in several studies. Clinical data have shown that untreated postnatal depression has a moderate to severe negative effect on maternal-infant bonding during the first year of life, [15] and that exposure to postnatal depression has a significant adverse effect on the cognitive and emotional development of school-aged children.[16] In addition, several reports suggest that children of depressed mothers display more fear and anxiety,[17] and have more insecure and

disorganised attachment patterns than children who are not exposed to a depressed mother.^[18]

The most commonly used medications to treat depression in the postnatal period are the selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor (SSRI) class of antidepressants and the tricyclic antidepressants (TCAs). There is only limited human and animal data available on the effects of the monoamine oxidase inhibitor (MAOI) class of antidepressants in pregnant and postnatal women. [19] In addition, the MAOIs have been reported to exacerbate hypertension, and they have extensive interaction profiles with food and other medications, which can lead to complications in treatment. [14] Therefore, the MAOIs are not recommended for use in treating depression in pregnancy or the postnatal period.

Despite this growing body of literature, there are many confounding factors that must be taken into account when interpreting the data. For example, some published case reports do not specify exposure details for the infants, thus making it difficult to determine if a particular effect is related to *in utero* versus breast milk exposure. In addition, the sensitivity of drug assay techniques varies widely, and in cases where infant clinical status is documented, it is often not based on standardised or widely used behavioural assessment tools. Therefore, the focus of this article will be on highlighting and interpreting the existing literature on the benefits and risks to mother and infant of drug treatment for postnatal depression, as well as out-

lining treatment guidelines for the use of antidepressants in breastfeeding mothers.

A MEDLINE search of the literature from the past 20 years was conducted to determine the use of antidepressants in breastfeeding women. Search items included each of the classes of antidepressants in association with postnatal depression, breastfeeding, breast milk, and lactation.

1. Antidepressants During Breastfeeding

1.1 Selective Serotonin Reuptake Inhibitors

The SSRIs are effective for the treatment of general depression, and have, for most patients, become the treatment of choice. The literature on use of these drugs in lactating women has also rapidly expanded in recent years and includes publications of individual case reports, case series, and pharmacokinetic investigations. However, as these agents have only been on the market for a relatively short period of time, the long-term developmental effects of SSRI exposure in infants through breast milk have yet to be evaluated. It is critical, therefore, to understand the potential risks of SSRI therapy during lactation, and to weigh these risks against the expected benefits to both mother and infant on an individual basis.

Table I is a summary of the existing published reports of SSRI use by postnatal women.

1.1.1 Fluoxetine

Fluoxetine is the SSRI with the most published data on use by postnatal women. [20-28] Norfluox-

Table I. Summary of the existing published reports of selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor use by postnatal women during breastfeeding

Medication	Number of nursing infants	Number of reports of adverse events	Adverse events
Fluoxetine ^[20-28]	57	7	Colic (3 infants), [20,27] irritability, [21] seizure activity, a [26] withdrawal symptoms (2 infants), b [27] reduced growth [28]
Sertraline ^[24,29-34]	46	1	Benign neonatal sleep myoclonus ^[32]
Paroxetine ^[24,35-38]	60	0	
Fluvoxamine[39,40]	2	0	
Citalopram[41-43]	5	1	Uneasy sleep ^[41]

a Infant was exposed to fluoxetine, carbamazepine, and buspirone both *in utero* and through breast milk. It is not clear what medication and timing of exposure is associated with the adverse event noted.

b Infants were both exposed *in utero* and through breast milk. It is not clear which exposure was responsible for the 'withdrawal symptoms' (irritability, crying, poor feeding) noted.

etine, the active metabolite of fluoxetine, has similar pharmacokinetics and pharmacological potency as fluoxetine; norfluoxetine also has a long half-life that may predispose to accumulation in the serum of nursing infants.^[44] One case study described adverse effects such as colic, fussiness, crying, seizure activity, and reduced bodyweight gain with fluoxetine exposure.[20] Another report also found reduced bodyweight gain in infants breastfed by mothers who were taking fluoxetine, although the bodyweights reported were not statistically lower than the national mean.^[28] Despite two studies that reported negative effects, the majority of studies on the use of fluoxetine for postnatal depression have reported low drug concentrations in maternal milk and infant serum, and no other adverse infant effects have been documented.

1.1.2 Sertraline

Sertraline and its weak metabolite, desmethylsertraline, have been detected in breast milk, but with low or undetectable serum levels in the infant. [24,29-34] A recent study examined sertraline exposure in 19 breastfeeding mother-infant pairs, and found that platelet serotonin uptake in these infants was unaltered, despite low concentrations of sertraline and its metabolite in their serum. [34]

1.1.3 Paroxetine

Paroxetine is also excreted into the breast milk of lactating women, however, unlike fluoxetine, sertraline, and citalopram, paroxetine does not have an active metabolite. Only low or undetectable serum concentrations have been reported in infants and no adverse effects have been reported. [24,35-38] Based on the available data, paroxetine may be preferable to the other SSRIs in postnatal women.

1.1.4 Fluvoxamine

Two small case studies of fluvoxamine exposure through breast milk have both reported very low concentrations in the breast milk, and no adverse events in the infants. [39,40] Another recent study of six women found that fluvoxamine was an effective treatment for postnatal depression, although no details on infant exposure were given in this report. [45] As there is limited information available regarding the effects of this medication, caution is advised when prescribing fluvoxamine in postnatal breastfeeding women.

1.1.5 Citalopram

Only three case studies examining citalopram exposure through breastfeeding have been published. [41-43] As with fluvoxamine, limited data exists regarding the effects of citalopram on nursing infants, and therefore caution is advised when prescribing this medication to postnatal breastfeeding women.

1.2 Tricyclic Antidepressants

Table II is a summary of the existing published reports of TCA use by postnatal women.

The TCAs are useful in the treatment of postpartum depression when the SSRIs have failed, or when the woman has shown a previous good response to these medications. All TCAs are excreted into human breast milk in low concentrations, and

Table II. Summary of the existing published reports of tricyclic antidepressant use by postnatal women during breastfeeding

Medication	Number of nursing infants	Number of reports of adverse events	Adverse events
Amitriptyline ^[46-50]	8	0	
Clomipramine ^[24,46,51,52]	9	0 ^a	
Desipramine ^[24,53,54]	10	0	
Doxepin ^[55-57]	3	2	Respiratory depression; ^[55] poor sucking, muscle hypotonia, vomiting, jaundice, and drowsiness ^[56]
Imipramine ^[24,46,53]	7	0	
Nortriptyline ^[24,29,58-60]	18	0	

a One study reported 'toxic effects' in a neonate, but it was concluded that they were the result of in utero exposure.

a wide range of infant serum concentrations have been reported. However, no adverse effects have been documented for exposure to amitriptyline, [46-50] clomipramine, [24,46,51,52] desipramine, [24,53,54] imipramine, [24,46,53] or nortriptyline. [24,29,58-60] The active metabolite of doxepin has the longest half-life (37 hours) of all of the TCA medications, and may be potentially hazardous to nursing infants due to high accumulation in their sera. Doxepin exposure has been associated with adverse effects in two reports. [55,56] Caution is advised when prescribing doxepin to postnatal breastfeeding women; if possible, use an alternative medication with a shorter half-life and better documented infant effects.

1.3 Other Antidepressants During Breastfeeding

Table III is a summary of the data available on atypical antidepressants by postnatal women.

There is very limited data available on the use of atypical antidepressants such as bupropion,^[61] trazodone,^[62] and nefazodone by breastfeeding women and their infants. When possible, women should be advised to use an alternative antidepressant medication with more documented use in postnatal breastfeeding mothers.

Venlafaxine is a newer antidepressant medication that works by inhibiting the reuptake of both serotonin and norepinephrine (noradrenaline). A recent study of venlafaxine in 15 women found that it is an effective medication for the treatment of postnatal depression, however, no details were given in this report about infant exposure to the medication.^[65] Only two case reports have been published to date regarding venlafaxine concentrations in nursing infants. [63,64] The first study reported high concentrations of the medication in the sera of three exposed infants, but no adverse effects were noted in the infants.^[63] The second study involved measurement of venlafaxine concentrations in the sera of two mother-infant pairs.^[64] The main metabolite of venlafaxine was present in low but detectable amounts in both infants; however, no adverse effects were noted in

Table III. Summary of the existing published reports of use of other antidepressants (not selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors or tricyclic antidepressants) by postnatal women during breastfeeding

Medication	Number of nursing infants	Number of reports of adverse events
Bupropion ^[61]	1	0
Trazodone ^[62]	6 ^a	0
Venlafaxine ^[63,64]	5	0

 No details given on infant serum concentrations or clinical status.

the infants, and they were developing normally over the first year of age. Although these results are promising, more data are needed before conclusions can be made regarding the safety of venlafaxine in breastfeeding.

2. Adjunctive Therapies During Breastfeeding

There are several non-pharmacological treatment alternatives available for the treatment of postnatal depression, including cognitive-behavioural therapy, [66] interpersonal psychotherapy, [67-69] and group therapy. [70,71] While these treatments have been documented to be effective in treatment of women with mild to moderate symptomatology, they may not be adequate for the woman who has more severe symptoms. However, the non-pharmacological treatments continue to play a major role as adjunctive therapies for pregnant and postnatal women with mood and anxiety disorders, and as first-line therapies for women who refuse pharmacological treatment.

In addition, electroconvulsive therapy has been reported to be a safe treatment option for specific postnatal conditions such as severe depression with psychotic symptoms, acute mania, and in mothers who are at a risk for suicide or infanticide. [72,73]

3. Treatment Guidelines for Postnatal Depression

A new mother diagnosed with postnatal depression is faced with many difficult decisions. If she chooses to breastfeed her infant while taking an

antidepressant medication, she must consider the effects that exposure to the medication may have on her infant. However, if she chooses to discontinue breastfeeding, her infant may be at higher risk of developing a host of medical difficulties for which breastfeeding is considered to be protective against, including gastrointestinal disease, respiratory problems, and allergies.^[74,75] On the other hand, if she chooses to continue breastfeeding her infant, but discontinues her antidepressant medication, she will likely relapse, resulting in infant exposure to maternal psychiatric illness, which has been shown to have negative consequences on emotional and behavioural development. When faced with this situation, it is critical that the patient, her family, and her healthcare givers take all of these factors into account, in an effort to make the best possible informed decision for the mother and her infant.

If the decision is made to commence or continue antidepressant therapy in the postnatal period, the following treatment guidelines are recommended:

- 1. Selection of an antidepressant medication should be based on: the patient's prior response to a particular agent; the patient's prior adverse effect experiences with a particular agent; concurrent medications and risk of interactions; published adverse effects associated with a particular agent when used by breastfeeding women and their infants.
- 2. Maternal doses should be monitored maternal, fetal, and neonatal systems of drug absorption, distribution, metabolism, and elimination are all constantly changing throughout pregnancy and the postnatal period. Some of these variations require an increased or decreased dose of a specific medication, thus potentially increasing or decreasing drug exposure to the fetus or nursing infant. The effectiveness of a particular medication should therefore be monitored throughout the entire pregnancy and postnatal period in order to aim for the lowest possible dose that provides complete control of the depressive symptoms. Doses that are so low that they are ineffective compromise the mother by putting her at an increased risk for re-

lapse, and compromise the infant through unnecessary exposure to medication.

- 3. When possible, a medication that is known to result in lower infant exposure, either through lower accumulation in breast milk, and/or through lower documented accumulation in neonatal serum, should be used. If possible, the use of recently released medications in the postnatal period should be discouraged until more information is available regarding the effects of the medication.
- 4. The use of a single medication at any dose is preferable to multiple medications during both pregnancy and lactation. Switching medications during either pregnancy or the postnatal period increases the exposure to the fetus or infant.
- 5. The infant's clinical status and drug concentrations should be assessed regularly. The infant should be assessed prior to (if possible), and throughout, medication exposure by a paediatrician. Parents should also be educated about possible adverse signs and symptoms that an exposed infant may exhibit. Tables I to III list the documented adverse events that have been associated with the use of antidepressants by breastfeeding women. If possible, infant serum samples may also be taken. It is important to remember, however, that drug assay techniques vary widely, and that 'undetectable' drug concentrations do not necessarily indicate that the medication is not present in the serum of the infant. Therefore, the best assessment of an infant's well being is a regular clinical evaluation by the paediatrician.
- 6. The patient should be advised to time her breastfeeding to when the medication concentrations are likely to be at their lowest in her breast milk. This can be done by educating her about the peak levels of the drug in the blood, where appropriate. In addition, when faced with a choice between several different types of medications with similar efficacy and adverse effect profiles, one with few or no active metabolites is recommended.
- 7. The use of SSRIs and TCAs by breastfeeding women is not contraindicated. With the exception of a few cases, no serious adverse events have been reported in association with these medications.

Antidepressant therapy should be considered in women who have moderate to severe symptoms, who have not responded to supportive therapy or other types of non-pharmacological treatments, or who are at a risk of suicide or infanticide. In these cases, the benefits of antidepressant therapy should be discussed with the patient and her partner, in order to help them make an informed decision that will benefit the well being of both mother and infant.

4. Conclusions

The existing literature on the use of antidepressants by postnatal breastfeeding women is limited to case reports and small studies making it difficult to formulate any generalisations about the safety of these medications. However, the results are promising in that very few adverse effects as a result of infant exposure to SSRIs or TCAs have been reported to date. All psychotropic medications pass through the breast milk in varying amounts, resulting in infant exposure. While a clear relationship between drug concentrations and infant development and behaviour is yet to be elucidated, preliminary reports in which children have been followed-up into the school age years are encouraging.

Acknowledgements

No sources of funding were used to assist in the preparation of this manuscript. The authors have no conflicts of interest that are directly relevant to the content of this manuscript.

References

- Kumar R, Robson MK. A prospective study of emotional disorders in childbearing women. Br J Psychiatry 1984; 144: 35-47
- O'Hara MW, Neunaber DJ, Zekoski EM. Prospective study of postpartum depression: prevalence, course, and predictive factors. J Abnorm Psychol 1984; 93: 158-71
- O'Hara MW, Swain AM. Rates and risk of postpartum depression: a meta-analysis. Int Rev Psychiatry 1996; 8: 37-54
- Troutman B, Cutrona C. Nonpsychotic postpartum depression among adolescent mothers. J Abnorm Psychol 1990; 99: 69-78
- Llewellyn AM, Stowe ZN, Nemeroff CB. Depression during pregnancy and the puerperium. J Clin Psychiatry 1997; 58 (S15): 26-32

- O'Hara MW. Social support, life events, and depression during pregnancy and the puerperium. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1986; 43: 569-73
- Beck CT. A meta-analysis of predictors of postpartum depression. Nurs Res 1996; 45: 297-303
- Gotlib IH, Whiffen VE, Mount JH, et al. Prevalence rates and demographic characteristics associated with depression in pregnancy and the postpartum. J Consult Clin Psychol 1989; 57: 269-74
- Pastuszak A, Schick-Boschetto B, Zuber C, et al. Pregnancy outcome following first-trimester exposure to fluoxetine. JAMA 1993; 269: 2246-8
- Chambers C, Johnson K, Dick L, et al. Birth outcomes in pregnant women taking fluoxetine. N Engl J Med 1996; 335: 1010-5
- Nulman I, Rovet J, Stewart D, et al. Neurodevelopment of children exposed in utero to antidepressant drugs. N Engl J Med 1997; 336 (4): 258-62
- Kulin NA, Pastuszak A, Sage SR, et al. Pregnancy outcome following maternal use of the new selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors. JAMA 1998; 279: 609-10
- Ericson A, Källén B, Wiholm B-E. Delivery outcome after the use of antidepressants in early pregnancy. Eur J Clin Pharmacol 1999; 55: 505-8
- American Academy of Pediatrics Committee on Drugs. Use of psychoactive medication during pregnancy and possible effects on the fetus and newborn. Pediatrics 2000; 105 (4): 880-7
- Beck CT. The effects of postpartum depression on maternalinfant interaction: a meta-analysis. Nursing Res 1995; 44: 298-304
- Beck CT. The effects of postpartum depression in child development: a meta-analysis. Arch Psychiatr Nurs 1998; 12: 12-20
- Lyons-Ruth K, Wolfe R, Lyubchik A. Depression and the parenting of young children: making the case for early preventive mental health services. Harv Rev Psychiatry 2000; 8: 148-53
- Martins C, Gaffan EA. Effects of early maternal depression on patterns of infant-mother attachment: a meta-analytic investigation. J Child Psychol Psychiatry 2000; 41: 737-46
- Gracious BL, Wisner KL. Phenelzine use throughout pregnancy and the puerperium: case report, review of the literature, and management recommendations. Depress Anxiety 1997: 6: 124-8
- Lester BM, Cucca J, Andreozzi L, et al. Possible association between fluoxetine hydrochloride and colic in an infant. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 1993 Nov; 32 (6): 1253-5
- 21. Isenberg KE. Excretion of fluoxetine in human breast milk [letter]. J Clin Psychiatry 1990; 51: 169
- Burch KJ, Wells BG. Fluoxetine/norfluoxetine concentrations in human milk. Pediatrics 1992; 89: 676-7
- Taddio A, Ito S, Koren G. Excretion of fluoxetine and its metabolite, norfluoxetine, in human breast milk. J Clin Pharmacol 1996; 36: 42-7
- 24. Birnbaum CS, Cohen LS, Bailey JW, et al. Serum concentrations of antidepressants and benzodiazepines in nursing infants: a case series [online]. Available from URL: www.pediatrics. org/cgi/content/full/104/1/e11 [Accessed 2000 Dec 1]
- Yoshida K, Smith B, Craggs M, et al. Fluoxetine in breast-milk and developmental outcome of breast-fed infants. Br J Psychiatry 1998; 172: 175-9

- Brent NB, Wisner KL. Fluoxetine and carbamazepine concentrations in a nursing mother/infant pair. Clin Pediatr 1998 Jan; 37: 41-4
- Kristensen JH, Ilett KF, Hackett LP, et al. Distribution and excretion of fluoxetine and norfluoxetine in human milk. Br J Clin Pharmacol 1999; 48 (4): 521-7
- Chambers CD, Anderson PO, Thomas RG, et al. Weight gain in infants breastfed by mothers who take fluoxetine [online]. Available from URL: http://www.pediatrics.org/cgi/content/full/104/5/e61 [Accessed 2001 Dec 1]
- Altshuler LL, Burt VK, McMullen M, et al. Breastfeeding and sertraline: a 24-hour analysis. J Clin Psychiatry 1995 Jun; 56 (6): 243-5
- Epperson CN, Anderson GM, McDougle CJ. Sertraline and breast-feeding [letter]. N Engl J Med 1997; 336 (16): 1189-90
- Stowe ZN, Owens MJ, Landry JC, et al. Sertraline and desmethylsertraline in human breast milk and nursing infants.
 Am J Psychiatry 1997 Sep; 154 (9): 1255-60
- 32. Mammen OK, Perel JM, Rudolph G, et al. Sertraline and norsertraline levels in three breastfed infants. J Clin Psychiatry 1997 Mar; 58 (3): 100-3
- Wisner KL, Perel JM, Blumer J. Serum sertraline and ndesmethylsertraline levels in breast-feeding mother-infant pairs. Am J Psychiatry 1998 May; 155 (5): 690-2
- Epperson N, Czarkowski KA, Ward-O'Brien D, et al. Maternal sertraline treatment and serotonin transport in breast-feeding mother-infant pairs. Am J Psychiatry 2001 Oct; 158 (10): 1631-7
- 35. Öhman R, Hägg S, Carleborg L, et al. Excretion of paroxetine into breast milk. J Clin Psychiatry 1999 Aug; 60 (8): 519-23
- 36. Begg EJ, Duffull SB, Saunders DA, et al. Paroxetine in human milk. Br J Clin Pharmacol 1999; 48: 142-7
- Misri S, Kim J, Riggs KW, et al. Paroxetine levels in postpartum depressed women, breast milk, and infant serum. J Clin Psychiatry 2000 Nov; 61 (11): 828-32
- Stowe ZN, Cohen LS, Hostetter A, et al. Paroxetine in human breast milk and nursing infants. Am J Psychiatry 2000 Feb; 157 (2): 185-9
- 39. Wright S, Dawling S, Ashford JJ. Excretion of fluvoxamine in breast milk [letter]. Br J Clin Pharmacol 1991; 31: 209
- 40. Piontek CM, Wisner KL, Perel JM, et al. Serum fluvoxamine levels in breastfed infants. J Clin Psychiatry 2001 Feb; 62 (2):
- Schmidt K, Olesen OV, Jensen PN. Citalopram and breast-feeding: serum concentration and side effects in the infant. Biol Psychiatry 2000; 47: 164-5
- 42. Spigset O, Carleborg L, Öhman R, et al. Excretion of citalopram in breast milk. Br J Clin Pharmacol 1997; 44: 295-8
- Jenson PN, Olesen OV, Bertelsen A, et al. Citalopram and desmethylcitalopram concentrations in breast milk and in serum of mother and infant. Ther Drug Monit 1997; 19 (2): 236-9
- 44. Altamura AC, Moro AR, Percudani M. Clinical pharmacokinetics of fluoxetine. Clin Pharmacokinet 1994; 26: 201-14
- Suri R, Burt VK, Altshuler LL, et al. Fluvoxamine for postpartum depression [letter]. Am J Psychiatry 2001 Oct; 158 (10): 1739-40
- Yoshida K, Smith B, Craggs M, et al. Investigation of pharmacokinetics and of possible adverse effects in infants exposed to tricyclic antidepressants in breast-milk. J Affect Disord 1997; 43: 225-37

- Breyer-Pfaff U, Nill K, Entenmann KN, et al. Secretion of amitriptyline and metabolites into breast milk. Am J Psychiatry 1995; 152: 812-3
- Pittard WB, O'Neal Jr W. Amitriptyline excretion in human milk. J Clin Psychopharmacol 1986; 6: 383-4
- Bader TF, Newman K. Amitriptyline in human breast milk and the nursing infant's serum. Am J Psychiatry 1980; 137: 855-6
- Burt VK, Suri R, Altshuler L, et al. The use of psychotropic medications during breast-feeding. Am J Psychiatry 2001 Jul; 158 (7): 1001-9
- Schimmell MS, Katz EZ, Shaag Y, et al. Toxic neonatal effects following maternal clomipramine therapy. J Toxicol Clin Toxicol 1991; 29: 479-84
- Wisner KL, Perel JM, Foglia JP. Serum clomipramine and metabolite levels in four nursing mother-infant pairs. J Clin Psychiatry 1995 Jan; 56 (1): 17-20
- Sovner R, Orsulak PJ. Excretion of imipramine and desipramine in human breast milk. Am J Psychiatry 1979; 136: 451-2
- Stancer HC, Reed KL. Desipramine and 2-hydroxydesipramine in human breast milk and the nursing infant's serum. Am J Psychiatry 1986; 143: 1597-600
- Matheson I, Pande H, Alertsen AR. Respiratory depression caused by N-desmethyldoxepin in breast milk [letter]. Lancet 1985; 2: 1124
- Frey OR, Scheidt P, von Brenndorff AI. Adverse effects in a newborn infant breast-fed by a mother treated with doxepin. Ann Pharmacotherapy 1999 Jun; 33: 690-3
- Kemp J, Ilett KF, Booth J, et al. Excretion of doxepin and Ndesmethyldoxepin in human milk. Br J Clin Pharmacol 1985; 20: 497-9
- Wisner KL, Perel JM. Serum nortriptyline levels in nursing mothers and their infants. Am J Psychiatry 1991 Sep; 148 (9): 1234-6
- Wisner KL, Perel JM. Nortriptyline treatment of breast-feeding women [letter]. Am J Psychiatry 1996; 153: 295
- Matheson I, Skjaeraasen J. Milk concentrations of flupenthixol, nortriptyline and zuclopenthixol and between-breast differences in two patients. Eur J Clin Pharmacol 1988; 35: 217-22
- Briggs GG, Samson JH, Ambrose PJ, et al. Excretion of bupropion in breast milk. Ann Pharmacother 1993; 27: 431-3
- Verbeeck RK, Ross SG, McKenna EA. Excretion of trazodone in breast milk. Br J Clin Pharmacol 1986; 22: 367-70
- Illett KF, Hackett LP, Dusci LJ, et al. Distribution and excretion of venlafaxine and O-desmethylvenlafaxine in human milk. Br J Clin Pharmacol 1998; 45: 459-62
- Hendrick V, Altshuler LL, Wertheimer A, et al. Venlafaxine and breast-feeding. Am J Psychiatry 2001; 158 (12): 2089-90
- Cohen LS, Viguera AC, Bouffard SM, et al. Venlafaxine in the treatment of postpartum depression. J Clin Psychiatry 2001 Aug; 62 (8): 592-6
- Appleby L, Warner R, Whitton A, et al. A controlled study of fluoxetine and cognitive-behavioural counselling in the treatment of postnatal depression. BMJ 1997; 314: 932-6
- Stuart S, O'Hara MW. Interpersonal psychotherapy for postpartum depression: a treatment program. J Psychother Pract Res 1995; 4: 18-29
- Spinelli MG. Interpersonal psychotherapy for depressed antepartum women: a pilot study. Am J Psychiatry 1997; 154 (7): 1028-30

- O'Hara MW, Stuart S, Gorman LL, et al. Efficacy of interpersonal psychotherapy for postpartum depression. Arch Gen Psychiatry 2000; 57: 1039-45
- Meager I, Milgrom J. Group treatment for postpartum depression; a pilot study. Aust N Z J Psychiatry 1996; 30: 852-60
- Morgan M, Matthey S, Barnett B, et al. A group programme for postnatally distressed women and their partners. J Adv Nurs 1997; 26: 913-20
- American Psychiatric Association. The practice of electroconvulsive therapy: recommendations for treatment, training and privileging. A Task Force Report of the American Psychiatric Association. Washington (DC): American Psychiatric Association, 1990
- Rabheru K. The use of electroconvulsive therapy in special patient populations. Can J Psychiatry 2001 Oct; 46: 710-9
- 74. Chen Y, Yu SZ, Li WX. Artificial feeding and hospitalization in the first 18 months of life. Pediatrics 1988; 81: 58-62
- Riordan JM. The cost of not breastfeeding: a commentary. J Hum Lact 1997; 13: 93-7

Correspondence and offprints: Dr *Shaila Misri*, Reproductive Mental Health Program, St Paul's Hospital, 1081 Burrard Street, Room 2B-250, Vancouver, V6Z 1Y6, BC, Canada.

E-mail: lwaechter@providencehealth.bc.ca